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In its post-hearing brief incorporated in pertinent part herein as Appendix A, the 
Union submits that by the Agency's unilateral implementation of changes to its 
Library Network, specifically the physical closure of Headquarters' and Regional 
libraries as well as a technical library and the reduction of services in a number of 
the remaining physical libraries, the Agency instituted a change in the working 
conditions of its bargaining unit members, and given such a change, the Agency was 
obligated under the 1994 Master Collective Bargaining Agreement (Jt.Ex.I) to 
bargain not only the change in working conditions but also the impact of such 
change in working conditions as experienced by its bargaining unit members. 



APPENDIX A
 

Arguments 

.: When the Agency began to dose EPA Regional and Headquarters libraries prior to . 
negotiating with AFGE, it committed a breach of contract since this was clearly a change 

. in working conditions. Between August 2006 and December 2006 EPA closed it's 
regional libraries in Chicago, Dallas, Kansas City, and EPA Headquarters along with the 

. Fort Mead, Maryland technical library. In addition, EPA reduced the level of services at 
other EPA regional libraries (such as reduced hours of operation) in Regions 1,2,3,4,9 
and 10. 

Article 45- Section 8. states in all preparations, negotiations and other activities arising 
~undeubisAgreement,the parties will be aware of their obligation to the public to 
conduct such activities in the most efficient and cost effective manner. EPA's actions on 
"thismatter have demonstrated the Agency's inability to conduct themselves consistent 
with the MCBA. EPA's actions fail to embody the spirit and intent of this section when 
'one considers theFLRA's time to investigate and prosecute AFGE's ULP. Also the time 
and 'effort spent conducting this arbitration does not reflect "the most efficient and cost 
effective manner:" 

Witness testimony and (Jt. Exh. 16, Jt. Exh. 17, Jt. Exh. 18, Un.Exh. 3. and Un. Exh. 4) 
.clearly-showed that there was a change in working conditions. 

. a. Some bargaining unit employees no longer had physical access' to their historically
 
available EPA library and their research must be done on-line.
 

b.Even ifmost documents are eventually reproduced and digitized, which has yet to 
happen, there are resulting adverse impacts such as access to.the documents, availability 

.of'unlque documents, and the timeliness of receiving the documents. 
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c. There is no longer a librarian to assist bargaining unit members to efficiently search the 
internet, search the EPA collection and quickly respond to employee requests for 
information. 

d. Some copyrighted materials can not be legally digitized and provisions on how to 
access those library materials are not clear. 

e. Witness testimony also indicated that there are delays in obtaining "loaner" copies 
which will adversely impact employees on tight timeliness. 

f. Some bargaining unit employees may need additional training in conducting computer 
research (there is no indication when and if this training is being provided.) 

g. Maps, photo's, charts and other unique information cannot be easily digitized and 
therefore might be lost or inaccessible to employees. 

h. Locations within EPA who maintain physical libraries may give their employees an 
advantage over bargaining unit employees located where no physical library exists. 

Issue 2 

The Union believes that we had the right to demand negotiations concerning the proposal 
to close EPA libraries, under Article 45, Section 1. However, in the alternative ifthe 
Agency attempts successfully to claim that the library closings did not constitute a 
change in the substance ofan otherwise negotiable personnel policy, practice or 
working condition, then the Union believes that Article 45 Section 1B applies, because as 
indicated above the decision to close libraries created an adverse impact on bargaining 
unit employees. 

The Statute that sets the basic parameters ofthe ofthe relationship is 5 USC 7114(a)(4): 

"Any Agency and any exclusive representative in any
 
appropriate unit in the agency, through appropriate
 
representatives, shall meet and negotiate in good faith for
 
the purpose ofarriving at a collective agreement. In
 
addition, the agency and the exclusive representative may
 
determine techniques, consistent with the provisions of
 
Section 7119 ofthis title, to assist in any negotiation."
 

Within that basic duty ofthe parties to meet and negotiate, there are some subsidiary 
duties and rights, established at 5 USC 7114: 

The duty of an agency and an exclusive representative to negotiate in good faith under 
subsection (a') ofthis section shall include the obligation­

(6) 
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(I) to approach the negotiations with a sincere
 
resolve to reach a collective bargaining agreement;
 

(2) to be represented at the negotiations by duly
 
authorized representatives prepared to discuss and
 
negotiate on any condition ofemployment;
 

(3) to meet at reasonable times and convenient
 
places as frequently as may be necessary, and to avoid
 
unnecessary delays; ...
 

(5) if agreement is reached, to execute on the 
request of any party to the negotiations a written 
document embodying the agreed terms, and to take such 
steps as are necessary to implement such agreement. 

Clearly the Agency has not complied with any form ofnegotiations, in response to AFGE 
demand to bargain. In fact, the Agency's actions appear to have deliberately led to 
unnecessary delays by, never making themselves available to meet with the Union, 
refusing to select an arbitrator, questioning venue, and not responding to the Union's 
suggested ground rules. Any efforts which have moved this issue closer to resolution has 
been made by the Union calling upon our legal rights to have third party intervention in 
these negotiations. It is the Union's belief, that it wasn't until we filed a ULP against the 
Agency with regard to the Agency not selecting an arbitrator and the FLRA issued a 
complaint against the Agency, that this arbitration has taken place. 

The above duties are upon the Agency and the Union's exclusive representative as set 
forth in the MCBA Article 45 Section 5: I 

Section 5. The parties agree to recognize each other's duly
 
authorized representatives. At each location, the parties shall
 
designate an authorized agent. At the Agency and national levels,
 
the parties shall designate an authorized representative. All
 
dealings between the parties will take place between the
 
appropriate authorized representatives unless an authorized
 
representative designates another individual to act in his or her
 
place. Understandings reached by unauthorized individuals will
 
.have no force and effect unless approved by the authorized
 
representative ofthe parties. The parties will advise each other
 
oftheir respective authorized representatives at the local levels
 
at least annually. The parties will notify each other oftheir
 
authorized Agency or national level representative in writing and
 
such authorization will remain in effect until revoked.
 

In accordance with Article 45, Section 5, the designated authorized Union representative 
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is John Gage, President AFGE, who in turn designated Charles Orzehoskie as his 
authorized representative (Un. Exh. 2). For this matter the Agency indicated that 
Dave Mick would be negotiating on the Union's demand to bargain on the library matter. 

By refusing to bargain with AFGE on the libraries, we believe that the Agency further 
violated Article 45, Section 5 by not recognizing the Union's duly recognized 
representative. At a minimum, the Agency should have met with the Union's authorized 
representative and explained to the Union why the Agency thought that if there were to 
be negotiations, they should take place locally. While the Union totally disagrees with 
that position, ifthat was the agency's position, it should have formally been presented at 
the table. Negotiations do not encumber issues being decided unilaterally by the 
Agency. What the Agency did was paramount to failing to recognize the authorized 
representative. 

At the arbitration hearing, we heard Mr. Mick raise the issue of arbitration venue. The 
MCBA is silent on this matter as acknowledged by Mr. Mick. Therefore, when Mr. Mick 
made suggestions regarding the venue on future arbitrations it was not clear to the Union 
ifthe sentence in Article 45, Section 5 might not apply, which states that "understandings 
reached by unauthorized individuals will have no force and effect unless approved by the 
authorized representative ofthe parties." Mr. Arron Helm has been designated as the 
Agency's representative for the MCBA negotiations. The Union believed that, until Mr. 
Helm intervened or an Agency authorization clarification took place, that Mr. Mick's 
proposal on venue was premature. The Union has received no written authorization 
designating Mr. Mick to negotiate the MCBA. 

Issue 3 

AFGE Council 238 consists of 11 AFGE Locals from across the county at different EPA 
facilities. As such, AFGE Council 238 is a consolidated bargaining unit authorized to 
negotiate on national issues impacting all AFGE EPA Locals and their interests. This 
authority arises from 5 U.S.C Section 7113, national consultation rights. AFGE has been 
accorded exclusive recognition from the FLRA under the Statute, which as stated above 
(Un. Exh. 2) has been delegated to Charles Orzehoskie, President AFGE Council 238. 
EPA's refusal to acknowledge AFGE's authority has placed the Agency in violation of 
this section. EPA has failed to comply with section 7113 in its entirety. 

Clearly the library closure and change in library operating hours is a national issue. The 
planning documents admitted into evidence for example (Jt. Exh. 5, Un. Exh. 10, Un. 
Exh. 11, Un. Exh. 12, Un. Exh. 13,) demonstrate that the library closure and change of 
operations is a national issue, requiring national level negotiations. These documents are 
produced in consultation with the Regions and Labs from EPA Headquarters ("The EPA 
National Library Network"). To this date EPA Headquarters conducts monthly 
conference calls with all ofthe EPA Federal Library Managers and every other month 
EPA Headquarters conducts EPA National Library Network conference calls with EPA 
managers and library contractors. In addition, EPA headquarters hired this past summer 
an EPA Library Network Federal Library Manager (Deborah Balsamo) located at EPA 
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Headquarters to coordinate library services, provide oversight, and conduct library 
contract monitoring. 

Even Stephen Griffin, Labor Relations Officer for EPA Region I (Boston) has 
acknowledged that the library issue was an issue that required national negotiations (11. 
Exh. 25) by notifying Mr. Orzehoskie, but EPA Headquarters continued to ignore their 
duty to negotiate on a national level. Mr. Griffin made his official notice after AFGE 
made its demand to bargain on March 16,2006. Please note that Stephen Griffin is not 
the designated Agency representative for this matter, Mr. Mick is the designated Agency 
representative. 

The MCBA clearly specifies those areas that are appropriate for local negotiation (11. 
Exh, 1, such as Articles 12 and 14). Since the library issue is not specified for local 
negotiations it falls under national negotiations, especially when one considers the range 
and scope of such a decision to close libraries that are a public resource. 

J1. Exh. 6 dated April 16,2007 (EPA Information Policy) is a national policy, issued by 
EPA National Headquarters Office dealing with EPA wide policy on libraries. This 
document alone gives AFGE a basis for demanding National bargaining on libraries. 

AFGE has established a past practice and negotiated with EPA a number of national 
agreements such the "Performance Appraisal and Recognition System", "National 
Reasonable Accommodation Procedures", "Flexiplace", "electronic Official Personnel 
File" procedures, as well as the MCBA. 

5 U.S.C section 7116(a)(5) states that it is an unfair labor practice for an agency - - to 
refuse to consult or negotiate in good faith with a labor organization as required by this 
chapter. Since EPA has refused to negotiate with the AFGE, it has violated this section 
ofthe law. (J1. Exh. 20) 

5 U.S.C. section 7117(a)(2) states that the Agency has duty to bargain in good faith and 
5 U.S.C. sections 7117(d)(I) and 7117(d)(2) states that the Agency has a duty to consult 
at the national level. Since EPA has refused to negotiate with AFGE it has not complied 
with these three sections. (11. Exh. 20) 

5.U.s.C. Section 7106(b)(3) does not preclude the parties from negotiating "appropriate 
arrangements for employees adverselyjffected by the exercise ofany authority under this 
section by such management officials." The closure of libraries and reduced libraries 
services is clearly a change in working conditions requiring negotiations by the parties. 
(11. Exh. 20). The Union and the Agency have an obligation to bargain over the 
substance, impact and implementation over any future agency decisions as it relates to 
conditions ofemployment of unit employees. 

When testimony was taken concerning the closing ofthe Chicago library, it was clear that 
as a result ofthe Chicago (EPA Region 5) closing oftheir library, some ofthe services 
which were provided by Region 5's library to Region 5 bargaining unit employees, will 
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now be available from EPA's Cincinnati office. EPA's witnesses stated that everything 
available to Region 5 employees will still be available through the Cincinnati office. 
However, since Region 5, Chicago Local 704, has no jurisdiction in the operation of 
Cincinnati, it would be impossible for AFGE Local 704 to negotiate the adverse impacts 
on their bargaining unit members, by the closing oftheir Regional library. Therefore, the 
AFGE entity which has been authorized to deal with issues crossing EPA Regional 
boundaries is AFGE Council 238, so recognized by the FLRA and designated by AFGE 
President John Gage. However, the Agency is trying to avoid negotiating with Council 
238, and the result of this arbitration should include a directive that EPA negotiates with 
AFGE Council 238 consistent with the Statute and MCBA. 

Reported Case Authorities 

For reported FLRA decisions in which an agency fails to negotiate with a union that is 
the certified collective bargaining exclusive representative of a national consolidated unit. 
See Department ofHealth and Human Services and AFGE [v16 p674] 16:0674(99) CA; 
Food and Drug Admin., Northeast and Mid-Atlantic Regions, 53 FLRA 1269,1274 
(1998); and Dept. ofDefense Dependents schools, 12 FLRA52, 53 (1983). 

For a reported FLRA decision concerning the negotiation of changes in conditions of 
employment that affect more than one facility or originate above the facility level. 
See [v49 p923] 49:923(89)NG NFFE, Council ofVA Locals, 49 FLRA 923, Proposal 2 
[N]. 

Conclusion 

There could hardly be a clearer case of violations oflaw and the MCBA. The EPA 
unilaterally closed EPA Regional and Headquarters libraries and reduced library access 
and services in other Regions before negotiating with AFGE. EPA chose not to negotiate 
with the Union on a matter ofnational importance and therefore violated the Statute and 
the MCBA. The EPA and the Union have entered into a labor agreement spelling out the 
procedures for negotiation, but it is impossible to negotiate with oneself. The MCBA and 
the Statute obligates the EPA to negotiate, but EPA will not likely negotiate with the 
Union until it is compelled to as was the case in selecting an arbitrator. 

Finally, there is a compelling public interest in maintaining physical libraries which 
serve both Unions and the public. There is a compelling interest in having agencies 
negotiate such matters as library closures with Unions that represent the library users. 
Congress recognized this public interest which is codified in 5 U.S.C Section 7101. (Jt. 
Exh.20). 
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In summation, the Arbitrator should rule: 

1) The Agency should be ordered to initiate good faith negotiations with
 
AFGE Council 238 for establishing procedures and appropriate arrangements
 
concerning the changes to EPA library services and operations.
 

2) The Arbitrator should retain jurisdiction until the conclusion of said negotiations. 

3) The Agency should be ordered to fully restore the function and reopen all ofthe 
closed libraries in EPA Headquarters, the EPA Headquarters Office of Prevention; 
Protection and Toxic Substances Technical library and libraries in Regions 5, 6, and 7 
along with the Ft. Meade, Maryland technical library. 

4) The Agency should be ordered to fully restore the function and hours of 
operations at those EPA libraries in Regions 1, 2, 3, 4, 9 and 10 where the hours of 
operations were reduced and services reduced. 
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APPENDIX B
 

ARGUMENT· 

POINT 1 

. '. 

THE AGENCYDID NOT FAILIN EXECUTING ITS Bl\R.GAlNING OBLIGAnONS 

. The Agency's decision to close or otherwisereconfigure its system of libraries representedan 
exerciseof its prerogativearidits need to operate the Agency in a manner that best leveraged 
technological resourceswith availablefunding. As theArbitratoragreed in the hearing, impact 
on the general public of Agencylibraryclosuresor reconfiguration of services was not a matter 
within the scope of the instant arbitration. 

As regardsthe impact on Agencyemployees, reconfiguration of library services represented a 
charige in the means and technologyby which employees, who utilized Agency library resources, 
would accomplishtheir assignedwork. We would like to pointout, then, that the substantive 
decisions made.bytheAgency, with respect to library service reconfiguration, represent, at best, 
permissivetopics'of'bargaining (per 5 USC 7106 (b) (1)): While the Agency endeavored 

.mightilyto brief the Unions on its libraryreconfiguration activities, as brought forth in testimony 
from Agencywitness Mr. MichaelFlynn and as articulatedin the "EPA FY 2007 LibraryPlan 
(Joint ExhS):conveyed..iaemail to all Agencyunion contacts (AgencyExh,5), at no point did 
the Agencyeve~ communicateto its unions (includingAFGE) that it was electing or had elected 
to bargainover the substanceof its decisionsmade with respect to the libraries: 

The Urll6'tiaaifusiri its grievance (Joint Exh. 24) that the Agencyviolated the Parties MCBA 
(JointExh. 1)at Article 45, Section 1A. That particular cite deals with employer-initiated 
changes "inthe substance of otherwisenegotiable personnelpolicy,practice or working 

. conditionnotpart ofthis agreement.". As was mentionedin the immediatelypreceding 
paragraph, library service reconfiguration was and remains a permissivetopic of bargaining 
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(negotiable, per 5 USC 7106 (b) (1) only at the Agency's election), the substance of which, the
 
Agency has not elected to negotiate. As such, the Union's claim that Article 45, Section 1A was
 
violated, we argue, is misplaced.
 

Next, the Union claims in its grievance (Joint Exh. 24) that the Agency violated the Parties
 
MCBA (Joint Exh. 1) by failing to negotiate appropriate arrangements with the union..." The
 
Union did submit a list of bargaining demands regarding the libraries (Joint Exh. 1A). One
 
particular proposal from that list demanded that the Agency "cease discussion of EPA library
 
closures". However, that particular proposal goes to the substance of Agency decision-making
 

. on library services - again, a permissive topic of bargaining over which the Agency never elected 
negotiations. Another proposal from Joint Exh.1A requests that the Agency, as regards library 
service reconfiguration, "explain the proposed changes and their impact...". The Agency's. 
responds by asserting that particular request was honored in a variety of different ways: a) as was 
brought out by the testimony of Agency witness Mr. Michael Flynn, through personal briefings 
he deliyered to the unions; b) through Joint Exh. 5 as conveyed by Agency Exh. 5; c) as was 
brought out by the testimony of Agency witness Mr. Jeff Kelly through informational briefings 
he had with representative of AFGE's EPA-Chicago local; and, moreover, d) through 
engagement ofthe unions as evidenced in Agency Exh. 6; Agency Exh. 7; Joint Exh. 7 (message 
from David Mick to Agency headquarters union contacts, dated 8/24/06); and Joint Exh. 25. 
Nowhere, however, in the list of bargaining demands in Joint Exh. 1A oron any other document 
entered into the record for this case has the Union identified any of their proposals as constituting 
appropriate arrangements. For any union proposal to be considered an appropriate arrangement, 
it must be identified as such. See AFGE, Local 2663 and Veterans Administration Medical 
Center, Kansas City, MO, 31 FLRA 988 (1988). As such, we posit that the Agency did not 
violate Article 45, Section 1B from Joint Exh. 1. 

Additionally, the Union argued in its grievance (Joint Exh. 2,t) that the Agency violated 5 USC 
7117 (a) (1) by failing to "bargain in good faith and/or appropriate arrangements for employees 
affected by the exercise of any authority under 5 USC 7106 (a) ..." First, we believe the issue of 
appropriate arrangements has been fully addressed in the immediately preceding paragraph. 
Second, as regards the Union's reference to 5 USC 7106 (a), the Agency believes, per its above­
stated arguments regarding the library reconfiguration issue constituting a 5 USC 7106 (b) (1)­
based permissive topic of bargaining, a reference by the Union to 5 USC 7106 (a) as being 
misplaced and, thus, not applicable to the instant case. On a similar note, the Agency still 
believes, despite not being sustained on a related objection at hearing, that the Union should not 
have been allowed to introduce at arbitration alleged statutory violations above and beyond that 
which were specifically referenced in their grievance and addressed by the Agency herein. Third, 
the Union failed to show in their grievance and failed to show at arbitration how the Agency 
engaged in bad faith bargaining on the issue oflibrary service reconfiguration, What the Union 
has taken issue with is the substance of the Agency's decision-making as regards reconfiguration 
oflibrary resources. The Agency appropriately engaged the Union on matters attendant to 
collective bargaining as evidenced by Agency Exh. 1, Agency Exh. 2, Agency Exh. 3, Agency 
Exh. 6, Agency Exh. 7, Joint Exh. 7, Joint Exh. 8, Joint Exh. 25, and the testimony of Agency 
witness Jeff Kelly as regards proactive measures taken by EPA-Chicago management to engage 
the Chicago AFGE local on impact bargaining over closure of the EPA-Chicago library. 



Aside from the bargaining demands referenced in Joint Exh. lA to which the Agency has 
responded in the preceding paragraphs, the Union has utterly failed to show that notwithstanding: 
a) its having been briefed on library reconfiguration on multiple occasions by Agency witness 
Michael Flynn (and, in Chicago, by Agency witness Jeff Kelly I; b) its having been updated 
through the conveyance of information provided at Joint Exh. :; (via Agency Exh. 5); and c) its 
having been engaged by the Agency as evidenced through Agency Exh. 1, Agency Exh. 2, 
Agency Exh. 3, Agency Exh. 6, Agency Exh. 7, Joint Exh. 7, Joint Exh. 8 and Joint Exh. 25, it 
has never offered up either: a) what it believed to be and identi fied as appropriate arrangement 
bargaining proposals; or b) impact and/or implementation bargaining proposals. 

It should be noted that in an attempt to "put to rest" the Union's concerns with the library 
reconfiguration initiative - notwithstanding the Agency's response (Joint Exh.2) to the Union's 
grievance (Joint Exh. 24), the Agency tried, after several brief ngs on the libraries provided to the 
Union after its initial bargaining demand (Joint Exh. 1A), to elicit from the Union any "updated" 
bargaining interests it may have concerning the libraries (attachment: "Pertinent Documents 
Index", item #3). No new interests surfaced as the Union responded that its March 16, 2006 
bargaining demands (Joint Exh. 1A) was still its focus for bargaining. Oddly enough, in that 
same message, the Union indicated it was still looking for aresponse to its bargaining demands 
(Joint Exh. 1A); however the Agency had previously responded several months earlier (Joint 
Exh. 8). Of perhaps additional interest to the Arbitrator, it should be noted that in the Agency's 
response (Joint Exh. 2) to the Union's grievance (Joint Exh. 24), I, on behalf of the Agency 
indicated to the Union that "to the extent Council 238 would like to submit to me updated 
national-impact bargaining proposals (or confirm no change in interests from March 16, 2006 list 
of bargaining demands), we are willing to entertain such proposals for the purpose of national­
level collective bargaining." As was stated earlier in thisparagraph, no new interests from the 
Union were ever submitted. Rather, the Union reaffirmed its interest in bargaining on its March 
16,2006 demands (Joint Exh. 1A) to which the Agency had previously responded per Joint Exh. 
8. 

POINT 2 

THE UNION'S WITNESSES AND EXHIBITS DID NOT SUPPORT THEIR GRIEVANCE 

Testimony provided by the Union's witnesses was in no way dispositive of the Agency having 
engaged in the transgressions alleged by the Union in their grievance (Joint Exh. 24). A common 
thread running through the testimony of Union witnesses Margaret Hering, Warren Layne and 
Paul Scoggins was that they had to cope with adjusting to the new technologies employed for 
accessing library resources. However, this testimony had abso lutely no bearing on contract or 
statute violations alleged by the Union in their grievance (Joint Exh. 24). . 

Not only did the Union's witnesses not support their grievance, the Agency still contends that 
the Union's exhibits should not have been allowed for introduction into evidence as they lacked 
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probative value. In no way did the Union's exhibits support their grievance. For the most part, 
the exhibits were either copy of Agency library policy or letters, email messages, etc. from 
employees, members of Congress and the public, etc. supporting the Union's belief that the 
libraries should not be closed or otherwise reconfigured. While the Agency does not dispute the 
Union's right to hold its opinion regarding the libraries, the Union exhibits do not support 
allegations of Agency mis-deeds whether contractual or otherwise. 

CONCLUSION 

The Agency believes that the Union's grievance is without any foundation in the Federal 
Service Labor-Management Relations Statute, the Parties MCBA (Joint Exh. 1) or Agency 
policy. We have demonstrated in Point 1 how the Union was not short-changed in the collective 
bargaining process attendant to the Agency's library reconfiguration initiative. In sum, the Union 
has failed to produce any evidence that, practically speaking, supports their grievance. Based on 
these reasons and the above-stated arguments, the Agency respectfully requests that the Union's 
grievance be denied in its entirety. 

Dated:	 Cincinnati,OH 
November 3,2007 

FOR THE AGENCY: 

Respectfully submitted,
 

David E. ick
 
Human Resources Specialist (Labor/Employee Relations)
 

Attachments 
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